No. 21-CV-262

COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

Clerk of the Court RE'ESE ADBARET DEBRA SELAM KIDEST MARIAM ETHROPMAN 6/21/2022 10:54 AM TEWAHEDO CHURCH, INC.,

Appellant,

v.

AKLILU HABTE, ET AL.,

Appellees

Appeal of Dismissal of Complaint in Case No. 2015 CA 007574 B Appeal of Denial of Motion and Memorandum in Support to Alter, Amend and Correct Order in Case No. 2015 CA 007574 B

BRIEF FOR APPELLANT

George L. Lyon, Jr. DC Bar No. 388678 Bergstrom Attorneys 1929 Biltmore Street NW Washington, DC 20009 Telephone: (202) 669-0442 Facsimile: (202) 483-9267

E-mail: gll@bergstromattorneys.com

Counsel for Plaintiff

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Did the Court below err in dismissing the complaint for lack of standing?

Did the Court below err in finding that the Church's 2014 and 2015 elections were invalid because persons otherwise entitled were denied the opportunity to vote?

Did the Court below err in finding that the Church's 2014 and 2015 elections were invalid because they were held in a month other than as specified in its Bylaws?

Did the court below err in finding that the Church's 2015 election was invalid for lacking a quorum?

Was it proper to for the Court below to credit the results of a putative election of eight board members conducted by Defendants when there were not eight vacancies on the board and where Plaintiff alleged the invalidity of such election?

Did the Court below err in holding that Dr. Amare Kassaye, the Church's Aleka was not a member of the board of trustees and thus not entitled to vote when

the purported board elected by Defendants and their supporters in October 2016 voted to dismiss this action.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner/Plaintiff Church appeals the dismissal of the complaint in this matter for lack of standing. The complaint sought to enforce the Church's board of trustees' decision to remove from the Church's premises Appellees and persons acting in concert therewith who are forcefully occupying the Church's premises, who have locked the Church's administrator out of his office, who purported to fire the administrator, and who are forcefully restricting board members and other Church members who oppose their unlawful actions from entering the Church.

This matter was previously before this Court in Case No. 18-CV-0559 wherein Plaintiff appealed the trial court's order dismissing the complaint. This Court vacated and remanded the case on several issues the trial court had failed to address adequately. *See* Memorandum Opinion and Judgment (August 22, 2019), pp. 1-4 ("Remand Order") (JA 27). Following this Court's Remand Order, the trial court without further hearings or proceedings issued another order dismissing the complaint. *See* Order (September 25, 2020). JA 37. Plaintiff then filed a motion under Rules 59 and 60 to alter, amend or correct the trial court's decision. *See* Motion and Memorandum in Support to Alter, Amend and Correct Order (October

22, 2020) (JA 136). The trial court denied that motion on March 20, 2021. JA 46. This appeal followed.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The relevant background facts are adequately summarized in this Court's Remand Order and will not be repeated here in depth. See JA 27-30. See also Appellant's Brief, Case No. 18-CV-0559, pp, 3-20 (August 31, 2018) (hereinafter "Brief, 18-CV-0559"). Briefly stated, an escalating dispute over Church governance resulted in a group of Church members led by Appellee/Defendant Aklilu Habte purporting to dismiss the elected members of the Church's governing board of trustees and the church administrator (or Aleka), the Rev. Dr. Amare Kassaye, an ex officio board member. The board's concern that Church services were devolving into violence led it to temporarily close and lock the Church. Unknown person or persons were able to unlock the Church's doors allowing Appellee/Defendants to gain entry and forcibly restrain board members and supporters of the board from entering the Church. The Church then filed this action to evict the Defendants/Appellees. Subsequently, Appellees and their supporters purported to hold an election to fill all eight elected board positions in October of 2016 despite that the terms for the four board members elected in 2015 had not expired. That Appellee elected purported board then voted to dismiss this action.

Plaintiff had previously conducted its own 2016 election in March of that year for the four expiring board seats originally elected in 2014. So, no board vacancies existed when Appellees purported to hold their board election. *See generally* Brief 18-CV-0559, pp. 3-20.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Remand Order focused on the question of the validity of the 2014 and 2015 church general assembly board elections and the holding of the prior dismissal order that those elections were invalid. JA 34-35. This Court noted that the dismissal order did not address the March 2016 election plaintiff had cited to as indicating there were no vacancies to be filed in the October 2016 election defendants purported to conduct. JA 35. This Court also noted that the validity of those three elections could affect who was the proper Aleka (administrator of the Church), the Aleka being a permanent board member under the 1996 bylaws this Court determined governed the Church. JA 35. This Court further noted that the prior judge that had denied temporary relief had concluded that Dr. Kassaye "had been named Aleka" by members of the board who were "invalidly elected in July 2014 and July 2015," but the dismissal order did not resolve that issue. JA 35.

On remand, Judge Mott purported to resolve these issues, but without holding further evidentiary proceedings. *See Order*, Case No. 2015 CA 007574 B

(Sept. 25, 2020) (hereinafter "Second Dismissal Order") (JA 37). However, in doing so, the Second Dismissal Order failed to consider unrefuted evidence of record and made errors of law and fact prejudicial to Plaintiff. Accordingly, the Church submitted a Motion to Alter, Amend and Correct the Second Dismissal Order pursuant to Superior Court Civil Procedure Rules 59 and 60. *See* JA 136. Rather than address the factual and legal issues Plaintiff raised, the court below simply issued a curt order denying the motion. *See* Order, Case No. 2015 CA 007574 (Mar. 30, 2021) (JA 46).

The Second Dismissal Order clearly erred in its various findings, and the failure of the court below to address the matters raised in the Rule 59-60 motion was an abuse of discretion that requires this Court's correction. The Church raised valid points concerning the Second Dismissal Order that the court below should have addressed and corrected with respect to its decision. Had it done so it would not have dismissed this case for lack of standing.

Specifically, the trial court's finding that the 2014 and 2015 elections were conducted contrary to the 1996 Church bylaws (JA 41) lacks supporting evidence and is based on an erroneous interpretation of the Church's bylaws. The court's conclusion with respect to that matter is predicated on persons supposedly being denied the right to vote in those elections due to whether they had paid dues or were "financial contributors of record." JA 41. No evidence exists in the record,

however, of any Church member being denied the vote at those two Church general assembly meetings. Moreover, in interpreting the Church's 1996 Bylaws, the trial court erred in finding a difference between the terms "dues," "tithes" and contributions of record as used in the bylaws. *See* JA 41. Reading the bylaw provisions in context plainly shows that the terms were used synonymously.

Additionally, the trial court committed legal error in finding that the Church's 2014 and 2015 elections were invalid because they were held in a month other than as specified in its bylaws. JA 41-42. DC Code § 29-405.01(d) specifically provides that the failure to hold an annual or regular meeting at the time specified by the bylaws does not affect the validity of the actions taken at that meeting. The trial court nevertheless eviscerated that provision by holding without explanation or citation to any authority that these two meetings y being held other than in October thus became "emergency" meetings and that the bylaw requirements for such "emergency" meetings had not been met (JA 42), notwithstanding that the trial court failed to state what, if any, such bylaw requirement had not been met. *See* JA 42.

The trial court further erred in finding that the Church's 2015 election was invalid for lacking a quorum. JA 42-43. The court's conclusion in this regard is based entirely on speculation. The official election report plainly states that a quorum existed. JA 359. The record is bereft of testimony from any witness that a

quorum was lacking. There was abundant uncontradicted testimony that a quorum was present, including from the Church official, Ms. Seyoun, tasked with determining whether a quorum was present and from one of the persons who witnessed the count of the members to ensure a quorum was present. JA 262-63, 271-72. Yet, the trial court completely ignored this evidence to hold that a quorum was lacking. *See* JA 42. This was plain error.

Because the trial court's conclusions as to the validity of the Church's March 2016 board election are directly taken from the court's conclusions with respect to the 2014 and 2015 board elections (*see* JA 43), it follows that the court's analysis is likewise in error as to its rejection of the results of that election to replace the four board members elected in 2014.

Even were the trial court correct in finding the Church's 2016 board election invalid on some independent ground, that still left the four board members elected in 2015. Thus, it was error for the trial court to credit Appellees purported election of *eight* board members when at most there would have been only four board seats becoming vacant. Thus, any action taken by the Appellees 2016 "elected" board which excluded the 2015 elected board members cannot be credited.

The trial court erred yet again in holding that Dr. Amare Kassaye, the Church's Aleka was not a member of the board of trustees when the purported board elected in October 2016 by Defendant/Appellees and their supporters voted

to dismiss this action. JA 43-44. The trial court's explanation for this conclusion is both illogical and factually baseless. The trial court based its decision on the purported invalidity of the 2014 and 2015 elections – matters as to which the court erred as set forth above – stating it agreed with Judge Ross's view that "Dr. Amare had been named Aleka by Board members who were invalidly elected on June 2014 and March 2015." JA 44. (Emphasis added). The record contains absolutely no evidence to support that conclusion. Rev. Dr. Kassaye had been the Aleka for long before the 2014 or 2015 board elections. Whatever, the status of the other eight elected board members, Dr. Kassaye remained a permanent member of the board unless and until properly removed by a board vote as to which he was entitled to notice and an opportunity to participate and to vote. That never happened. Finally, Dr. Kassaye was entitled to notice and an opportunity to vote on any board action to dismiss this case. He had no such opportunity. Accordingly, any such board vote is plainly invalid.

In light of these infirmities in the Second Dismissal Order, its conclusion that Plaintiff lacked standing is plainly in error. Thus, this Court must once again vacate the trial court's judgment and remand this case for trial on the merits.

ARGUMENT

I. The 2014 and 2015 Church board elections were valid.

The Second Dismissal Order concluded that the 2014 and 2015 Church board elections were invalid. JA 39-43. The bases for that conclusion were threefold. First, that the elections were conducted under rules more restrictive than under the 1996 bylaws, specifically a requirement for members to pay dues for six months prior to the election rather than to be "financial contributors of record for at least six months preceding" the election, JA 40-41, citing Def. Ex. 10, 1996 Bylaws, Art. VI (JA 548). Second, in light that the election meetings were not held in October as set forth in the 1996 bylaws, the Second Dismissal Order concluded that the meetings were required to meet the "emergency meeting" requirements of the 1996 bylaws and that Plaintiff had not shown that it met the emergency meeting notification requirements. JA 41-42. Third, the Second Dismissal Order held Plaintiff failed to establish that the required one-third quorum was achieved to hold the election in March 2015. JA 42-43. In that vein, the Second Dismissal Order cited findings from the prior judge that:

(1) The election report for March 29, 2015 did not specify how many members belonged to the Church but indicated that the top vote getter, Legesse Tessema, received 130 votes [footnote omitted]; (2) Minutes from the preceding meeting on March 7, 2015 showed that the Church had 564 members, which would require a quorum of 188 members; and (3) Several months into the hearings for the Temporary Restraining Order, plaintiff produced for the first time a new, English-only report of the March 29, 2015 election stating that the Church had

532 members of which 178 were present. This new report did not explain the sudden drop in Church membership from March 7, and it incorrectly stated that 175 members were required to achieve a quorum. Ms. Debela testified that this mistake was a typo. She could not confirm, however, whether 178 members were actually present or whether that number had also been a typo. *See* Order Den. Mot. For TRO at 7,12-13.

JA 42-43. Apparently adopting these findings after "having considered the entire record" the Second Dismissal Order was in agreement with the prior judge that the March 2015 election failed to achieve a quorum. JA 43.¹

A. The Second Dismissal Order's conclusion that board elections in 2014 and 2015 were held contrary to the bylaws is without foundation.

STANDARD OF REVIEW: The interpretation of the Church's bylaws is a matter of law. Hence the standard of review is de novo.

The Second Dismissal Order held that the 2014 and 2015 elections were invalid because they were conducted under the 2012 bylaws that required the payment of dues for a six-month period prior to the election. JA 41. According to the court, this was a stricter standard than contained in the 1996 bylaws which required members to be "financial contributors of record for at least six months preceding any such elections." JA 41, citing Def. Ex. 10, Article VI (JA 548). The order erroneously assumed that members who "paid tithes and other financial contributions" but did not pay monthly dues, were excluded from those elections

¹ Contrary to the prior judge's ruling, the Second Dismissal Order did not find the July 2014 election invalid for lack of a quorum. *See* JA 42-43.

(JA 41) without citing any record evidence indicating that any such persons were actually denied the right to vote at either of the elections. *See* JA 41. This was plain error.

The court's conclusion below is erroneous for several reasons. First, it was improper for the Court to conclude anyone was denied their opportunity to vote at the 2014 and 2015 General Assembly elections when not a single person testified he or anyone was denied the opportunity to vote. The court's conclusion simply amounted to bare speculation that anyone was denied the vote, and thus could not sustain the Defendants' motion to dismiss. Defendants called no witness to testify that he or she had been denied the opportunity to vote at either the 2014 or 2015 general assembly elections or that anyone else had been denied the right to vote at the elections. No witness called by the Church so testified.

Second, the court's interpretation of the 1996 bylaws conflicts with any rational construction of those bylaws. As this Court has said:

It is well established that the formal bylaws of an organization are to be construed as a contractual agreement between the organization and its members, *Willens v. Wisconsin Ave. Coop. Ass'n*, 844 A.2d 1126, 1135 (D.C.2004); *Local 31, Nat'l Ass'n of Broadcast Employees & Technicians (AFL-CIO) v. Timberlake*, 409 A.2d 629, 632 (D.C.1979), since the continuing relationship between the organization and its members manifests an implicit agreement by all parties concerned to abide by the bylaws. *Maine Central R.R. Co.[v. Bangor & Aroostook R.R. Co.]*, 395 A.2d [1107,] 1120-21 [(Me. 1987)]; *Johnson [v. Schuberth*, 40 Ill.App.2d 467,] 189 N.E.2d [786,] 772 [(1963)].

Meshel v. Ohev Sholom Talmud Torah, 869 A.2d 343, 361 (D.C. 2005). See also 8 Fletcher, Cyclopedia Corporations, § 4195, p. 791 (bylaws are construed under the same rules applied by the courts to construe contracts).

"Bylaws and other contracts are to be 'construed as a whole' in a manner consistent with the 'clear, simple and unambiguous meaning' of their language. Willens, supra, 844 A.2d at 1135 (quoting Johnson v. Fairfax Village Condo. IV Unit Owners Ass'n, 548 A.2d 87, 91 (D.C.1988))." Meshel v. Ohev Sholom Talmud Torah, 869 A.2d at 362. Clauses in a contract, and thus bylaws, should not be read as independent agreements thrown together without any consideration of their combined effect. Indeed, the document is best read as a whole, wherein clauses seemingly in conflict are construed, if possible, as consistent with one another. In re Binenstock's Trust, 410 Pa. 425, 190 A.2d 288 (1963). Terms in one section of the contract should not be interpreted in a manner which nullifies other terms. See Flatley by Flatley v. Penman, 632 A.2d 1342, 1344 (Pa. Super. 1993). Accord *Brown v. Cooke*, 707 A.2d 231 (Pa. Super. 1998). Likewise, a "statute should be read in its entirety and all of its parts should be construed to be internally consistent so as to give meaning to all parts." In re Anderson, 3 B.R. 160 (Bankr. S.D. Cal. 1980), citing *Kokoszka v. Belford*, 417 U.S. 642 (1973).

The Church's 1996 bylaws use the term "financial contributors of record" in referring to eligibility to vote. JA 548. Specifically, the requirement is that "members shall have been financial contributors of record for at least six months

preceding any such elections." JA 548. That phrase, "financial contributors of record" though, is nowhere defined in the bylaws. However, Article VII of the 1996 bylaws discusses termination of membership and states at Article VII(2) that "Membership may also be lost upon failure of members to pay dues within a reasonable period of time." See JA 548-49.² And Article V provides that among the requirements of Church membership is to "pay tithe to the Church." JA 548.³ These are the three provisions relating to financial contributions in the 1996 bylaws. One provision sets forth the requirement to pay to support the work of the Church, one provides that failure to pay within a reasonable time can result in loss of membership, and the third provides that to vote the member must have been paying for at least six months. JA 548-49. These are three perfectly logical provisions if they are addressing the same thing. If we are talking about three different concepts, it does not make any sense.

The error of the court below was in failing to read these three provisions in concert. See Galli v. Metz, 973 F.2d 145, 149 (2d Cir.1992) ("when interpreting

² Article VII provides that membership may be terminated by reason of immoral or un-Christian conduct or by failure to pay dues within a reasonable period of time. JA 548-49.

³ Article V states that membership is open to persons over the age of 18 who profess the divinity of Jesus Christ in accordance with the teachings of the Ethiopian Orthodox Church and who undertake to attend services regularly, serve the Church in the furtherance of its objectives if and when requested, promote the growth of the Church, pay tithe to the Church and abide by the Bylaws. JA 548.

this contract we must consider the entire contract and choose the interpretation ... which best accords with the sense of the remainder of the contract.") It is clear from reading these three provisions together in context that the "financial contributors of record for at least six months preceding the election," "tithes" and "dues" all mean the same thing. It makes no sense to require "tithes" to be members of the Church yet dismiss members for not paying "dues" which are not otherwise overtly stated to be a requirement of Church membership. Plainly, the "tithes" referred to in Article V are the "dues" referred to in Article VII. See JA 548-49. And it makes no sense to condition voting on some other undefined financial contribution of record for a six-month period nowhere else mentioned in the document. See JA 548. Indeed, the requirement to contribute over a six month period plainly implies recurring contributions, fully consistent with the concept of dues.

In interpreting a contract, or in this case bylaws, courts should not adopt a construction which renders provisions a nullity or reaches absurd or inconsistent results. *See Martin Marietta Materials, Inc. v. Vulcan Materials Co.*, 2012 WL 2819464 (Del. Sup., 2012). Yet, that is exactly what the decision below does in making a distinction between payment of dues, tithes and financial contributions of record. It is plainly obvious that when read in context, financial contributions of record for at least six months preceding the election refers to the dues that Church

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