No. 21-CV-262



#### COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA Clerk of the Court Received 07/20/2022 04:50 PM

RE'ESE ADBARAT DEBRE SELAM KIDEST MARIAM<sup>iled 07/20/2022 04:50 PM</sup> ETHIOPIAN TEWAHEDO CHURCH, INC.,

Appellant,

**v** .

# AKLILU HABTE, ET AL.,

Appellees.

Appeal of Dismissal of Complaint in Case No. 2015 CA 007574 B Appeal of Denial of Motion and Memorandum in Support to Alter, Amend and Correct Order in Case No. 2015 CA 007574 B

### **APPELLEES' BRIEF**

T. Michael Guiffré D.C. Bar No. 465745 Crowell & Moring (US) LLP 1001 Pennsylvania Ave. NW Washington, DC 20004 Telephone: (202) 624-2501 mguiffre@crowell.com

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

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> These findings included that: "(1) The election report for March 29, 2015 did not specify how many members belonged to the Church but indicated that the top vote getter, Legesse Tessema, received only 130 votes; (2) Minutes from the preceding meeting on March 7, 2015 showed that the Church had 564 members, which would require a quorum of 188 members; and (3) Several months into the hearings for the Temporary Restraining Order, plaintiff produced for the first time a new, Englishonly report of the March 29, 2015 election stating that the Church had 532 members of which 178 were present. This new report did not explain the sudden drop in Church membership from March 7, and it incorrectly stated that 175 members were required to achieve a quorum. Ms. Debela testified that this mistake was a typo. She could not confirm, however, whether 178 members were actually present or whether that number had also been a typo." JA 42-43, Second MTD Order at 7. (emphasis added). <sup>10</sup> See JA 461-66, July 27, 2014 G.A. Mtg. Min. at 3, indicating that the top candidate received 152 votes out of the 155 verified voting forms, or 98% of the members in attendance. See also JA 442, July 13, 2014 G.A. Mtg. Min., indicating that minimum quorum was 138, or 110% of the votes received. Like the 2015 Election Minutes, these contain a typo, which indicated that there were 460 members in good standing. However, it allegedly should have instead stated that there were 414 members in good standing. See JA 244, Feb. 4, 2016 Trans. at 322.

totaling 174% of the minimum quorum.<sup>11</sup> Lastly, the top vote getters in Appellant's purported March 2016 election received votes from 95.5% of the voting members in attendance.<sup>12</sup> Therefore, based on the available record, the top vote getter historically received a minimum of 90% of the vote of all members in attendance and greater than 100% of the minimum quorum, providing ample justification to second-guess the March 2015 election quorum.

Moreover, Appellant contends that this Court should accept Ms. Debela's written report as sufficient proof that a quorum was satisfied, despite Ms. Debela testifying that (1) she was not the one that compiled the list of members in good standing; (2) that she incorrectly wrote the required quorum was 175 instead of 178 because she is "weak in mathematics;" and (3) that she didn't know whether or not she accidentally switched the numbers, leading to only 175 members in attendance. *See* JA 250-51, Feb. 4, 2016 Trans. at 337-38. Likewise, Dr. Metaferia also testified for Appellant that he could not be sure how many members were at the 2015 election, nor why the required quorum had dropped so much since just three weeks prior. *See* JA 214-15; 218-19; 225-26, Jan. 11, 2016 Trans. at pp. 158-59; 180-81; 189-90.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> See JA 84, 86, Defs.' MTD Ex. B at 7 & 9, noting that the Church had 810 registered members, equating to a quorum of 270, and that the top candidate received 471 votes. <sup>12</sup> See JA 196-97, citing and attaching Aug. 13, 2018 Joint App. Vol. 4 at 1011-15 (Exhibits 1-2 to Pl.'s Opp. to Renewed MTD). In the March 2016 election, Appellant's March 27, 2016 Election Committee meeting minutes indicate that the top candidate received 171 votes out of 179 voting forms.

Lastly, Appellant ignores the fact that even if the Meeting Minutes were correct, it would only mean that a quorum was satisfied under the invalid 2012 Bylaws, not the 1996 Bylaws. This is a key distinction, as more restrictive membership requirements under the 2012 Bylaws, which were not limited solely to the previously discussed financial provisions, significantly reduced the membership count, thereby reducing the minimum required quorum. For instance, the invalid 2012 Bylaws contained a new provision holding that families will only receive one membership card and one vote unless the husband and wife separately apply for membership and make separate payments. Compare JA 403, 2012 Bylaws at Article 5.2, *with* JA 550, 1996 Bylaws at Article IX ("Every member of the DSK Mariam Church shall be entitled to one vote"). Additionally, under Article 10 of the 2012 Bylaws, when a member is delinquent on their monthly dues, they are immediately suspended without notice and unable to attend or vote at meetings until remedied. JA 409-10. However, the concept of a suspension did not exist in the 1996 Bylaws. Instead, under Article VII, members that failed to pay dues "within a reasonable period of time" would have their membership terminated, after notice and hearing, which could be restored upon payment. JA 549. By using the restrictive 2012 Bylaws, the Appellant undercounted its membership and therefore the quorum required to hold a valid election, and undoubtedly did not include on its

membership role members who were eligible to vote in the election under the 1996 Bylaws.

Lastly, there were additional requirements for membership and grounds for termination under Articles 5 & 8 of the invalid 2012 Bylaws that are not contained in the 1996 Bylaws. JA 402-03; 406-08. These include that a member not be involved in conflict with the Church, not have caused any disturbance or disagreement within the Church, and not dispute or contradict the bylaws of the Indeed, Appellant used these invalid provisions to terminate the Church. memberships of individuals who allegedly were complicit in an "unlawful series of challenges to the church's bylaws and the authority of the elected Board" through allowing the choir "to voice their grievances against the Board, thereby causing disturbances." See JA 555, Membership Termination Letters at 1. Thus, Appellant's repetition of its previously rejected arguments misrepresenting the record fails to demonstrate clearly erroneous findings of fact in Judge Mott's Dismissal Order. Appellant has failed to meet its burden to establish that any quorum was satisfied at the March 2015 election, let alone a quorum under the applicable 1996 Bylaws. See In re Estate of Derricotte, 885 A.2d 320, 324-25 (D.C. 2005).

# II. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY CONCLUDED THAT THE MARCH 2016 ELECTION WAS HELD CONTRARY TO THE BYLAWS

STANDARD OF REVIEW: This issue is one of mixed law and fact. Pursuant to D.C. R. Civ. Pro. 52(a)(6): Findings of fact must not be set aside unless clearly erroneous,

and the reviewing court must give due regard to the trial court's opportunity to judge the witnesses' credibility.

Appellant fails to advance any additional facts or legal arguments regarding the validity of its purported March 2016 election, apart from those discussed above relating to the July 2014 and March 2015 elections. While the trial court correctly concluded that the above flaws are sufficient to invalidate the March 2016 election, there are additional defects unique to the March 2016 election. For example, Appellant's self-serving affidavits of individuals who supported the eight removed Board members are the only records of these supposed elections. See JA 196-97, citing and attaching Aug. 13, 2018 Joint App. Vol. 4 at 1011-15 (Exhibits 1-2 to Pl.'s Opp. to Renewed MTD). These exhibits fail to establish that Appellant conducted the March 2016 election in accordance with the 1996 Bylaws, nor could they, as Appellant was continuing to adhere to the invalid 2012 Bylaws. The meetings did not occur at the Church, which is located on 1350 Buchanan Street NW, in contravention of D.C. Code § 29-405.01(c), which holds that annual meetings must be held at a location indicated in the bylaws, or if none is stated, "at the nonprofit corporation's principal office."<sup>13</sup> Furthermore, the fewer than 200

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Following the events of 2015, approximately 100-200 members supportive of Appellant split from the Church and declared themselves the "true" DSK Church. This other church created its own separate membership booklets with a differing cover picture and a smaller following than the Buchanan Street Church, which has substantially increased its membership since the split. *See* JA 80-81, Defs.' MTD Ex. B at 3-4. Appellant purportedly held the March 2016 election at 1610 Columbia Rd.

"members" alleged to be in attendance fell far short of a quorum of the approximately 810 eligible Church members under the 1996 Bylaws.<sup>14</sup> In addition, this Court has already agreed that "[w]hether or not unlawful actions occurred before the October 2016 election, the controlling bylaws required an election to be held in October 2016." JA 34. Thus, the March 2016 election could not have been proper.

Accordingly, any attempt to conduct an election during the meetings of the "other" DSK Church was invalid under the 1996 Bylaws. Instead, the record demonstrates that the March 2016 election was simply the first election at Appellant's separate church. Appellant has never alleged that it made any effort to follow the 1996 Bylaws at its separate church, as it has always maintained the 2012 Bylaws govern. Therefore, the trial court correctly concluded that the purported March 2016 election.

# III. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY CONCLUDED THAT ABRAHAM HABTE-SELLASSIE WAS THE PROPERLY APPOINTED ALEKA FOLLOWING THE OCTOBER 2016 ELECTIONS

STANDARD OF REVIEW: This issue is one of mixed law and fact. Pursuant to D.C. R. Civ. Pro. 52(a)(6): Findings of fact must not be set aside unless clearly erroneous, and the reviewing court must give due regard to the trial court's opportunity to judge the witnesses' credibility.

in Washington D.C.. JA 196-97, citing and attaching Aug. 13, 2018 Joint App. Vol. 4 at 1011-15 (Exhibits 1-2 to Pl.'s Opp. to Renewed MTD).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> See JA 84, Defs.' MTD Ex. B at 7, reflecting that in October 2016, the Church had 810 registered members, equating to a quorum of 270. *C.f.* JA 196-97, citing and attaching Aug. 13, 2018 Joint App. Vol. 4 at 1011-15 (Exhibits 1-2 to Pl.'s Opp. to Renewed MTD), stating that 179 "members" voted in Appellant's March 2016 election.

As noted in the Dismissal Order, Mr. Habte-Sellassie was the properly appointed Aleka following the October 2016 elections. Appellant does not contest that a duly-elected board has the authority to appoint the Church Aleka. The October 2016 election resulted in a duly-elected Board. The duly-elected Board affirmed the Interim Board's appointment of Mr. Habte-Sellassie as the Church Aleka. Dr. Kassaye was validly terminated as Aleka of the Church, if not by the removal of Dr. Kassaye by the Interim Board, then by the duly-elected Board's continued rejection of Appellant's claims and appointment of Mr. Habte-Sellassie. In either case, Dr. Kassaye, had been validly removed as Aleka prior to the vote to dismiss this case.

Even if Dr. Kassaye's removal was invalid, which it was not, this Court has already rejected Appellant's "fruit of the poisonous tree" argument with regard to the validity of the October 2016 election. JA 34.<sup>15</sup> Moreover, under Appellant's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Dr. Kassaye was among the former Board members dismissed in 2015. Br. for Appellant at 4. Appellant argues that "even if the Defendants/Appellees' October 2016 election was otherwise valid, Dr. Kassaye was still entitled to notice and the opportunity to vote on the purported dismissal of this action. That did not happen, rendering any purported vote by a newly constituted board invalid." *Id.* at n. 12. However, this Court has held that the October 2016 election "was not tainted simply because antecedent actions may have been unlawful." JA 34. Therefore, the validity of Dr. Kassaye's removal in 2015 has no bearing on the October 2016 Board's subsequent appointment of Mr. Habte-Sellassie as Aleka. If the election was otherwise valid, so too was their subsequent appointment.

argument, the initial 2015 vote to initiate this lawsuit was invalid, as it denied nearly half of the Board the right to participate. JA 3.<sup>16</sup>

The decision by the duly-elected board to dismiss this action was decided unanimously by the 11-member board, including the Board's founding member, Megabe Kahnat Kehali Wondaferew. Appellant cannot reasonably argue that a different vote from the Aleka position would have resulted in a different outcome.

#### IV. A MAJORITY OF THE BOARD VOTED TO DISMISS THIS LAWSUIT

The crux of this matter comes down to whether the majority of the Board voted to dismiss this lawsuit in January 2017. As this Court addressed in the Remand Order, "In any event, the trial court further reasoned, there were at least four vacancies at the time of the October 2016 election, and thus a majority of validly selected Board members voted to dismiss this lawsuit." JA 30. This is because all eight candidates elected in October 2016 voted with the three non-elected Board members in January 2017 to unanimously dismiss this suit, depriving Appellant of standing. JA 38. This decision was not among the particular issues remanded and,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> "These individuals did not provide notice of this meeting to the permanent members of the BOT and those elected by the clergy, including Father Workeneh Haile, the Church's father figure priest; Kehali Wondaferew, the Church's founder; Father Hailu Zeleke Lebu, the trustee elected by the clergy; and Mengesah Achamyeleh, the trustee elected by the Youth Sunday School Association ("YSSA"). PE11, PE32 ¶ 18. On the evening of September 30<sup>th</sup>, no one attempted to call these individuals to provide an opportunity to participate in the meeting. Tr. 85:1-18 (10-28-15). Ms. Debela testified that these individuals were not called because they had "done a coup d'etat" and were "on the other side." Tr. 84.9, 24 (10-28-15)."

accordingly, the Superior Court did not specifically address it. However, the Court's Order dismissing the suit did hold that the plaintiff also lacked standing for the reasons "expressed in the court's January 2, 2018 Order." JA 44.

Even if Appellant had met its burden of establishing that the 2014 and 2015 elections were proper and that Dr. Kassaye was Aleka, this would still leave four vacancies in October 2016 from the expiration of the 2014 former Board members' terms, thereby resulting in six votes in favor of dismissal (i.e., four votes by the newly-elected members, one vote by the permanent member, and one vote by the member elected by the clergy), which constitutes a majority of the 11-member Board. Thus, to meet its burden of establishing standing, Appellant would have to prevail on every appealed issue, including the validity of the March 2016 election results.<sup>17</sup> As such, this appeal is moot absent a showing that there were zero vacancies in October 2016, which Appellant has not and cannot do.

# V. APPELLANT'S APPEAL SHOULD BE DENIED BECAUSE THE RELIEF SOUGHT IS MOOT

The Article III case or controversy doctrine applies to limit the judicial power of the lower courts in the District of Columbia. *See Banks v. Ferrell*, 411 A.2d 54,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Appellant's brief does not cite to any evidence supporting the validity of the March 2016 election. Likewise, Appellant has failed to satisfy its burden of addressing additional challenges unique to the March 2016 election, including being held at the wrong location in contravention of D.C. Code § 29-405.01(c). JA 197. Appellant has not even demonstrated that there were any vacancies in March of 2016, given that the two-year terms of the candidates elected in July of 2014 had not yet expired.

55-56 (D.C. 1979). "A justiciable controversy is limited... to 'one upon which the judgment of the court may effectively operate,' as distinguished from a debate or argument that proposes a purely academic conclusion, or advisory opinion." *Thorn v. Walker*, 912 A.2d 1192, 1195 (D.C. 2006). "A case is moot when the legal issues presented are no longer 'live' or when the parties lack a legally cognizable interest in the outcome." *Id.* "[I]t is well-settled that, while an appeal is pending, an event that renders relief impossible or unnecessary also renders that appeal moot." *Id.* "[W]hen there is no effective relief this [c]ourt can fashion, the appeal is moot.' As the Supreme Court said in *Brownlow*, '[a] reversal would ostensibly avoid an event which had already passed beyond recall." *Id.* at 1197.

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